

# Ensuring no one is 'left behind' in health

### An evidence review of constraints and ways forward

Anthony McDonnell and Emma Samman

July 2020

# Key messages

- Despite being exposed to a larger number of health risks than the general population, disadvantaged or marginalised groups typically have less access to quality health services.
- Health needs and constraints to accessing healthcare differ across selected aspects of identity (being LGBT, having a disability or impairment), experience (displacement, sex work) and location (living in a rural area).
- This paper identifies a number of constraints to service access, which we group into social, economic and physical constraints. Where combined, these constraints can magnify exclusions from health coverage and disparities in outcomes.
- Although countries should strive toward universal healthcare, targeted policies play an important role in ensuring at-risk groups benefit fully from broader structural reforms.
- There is limited evidence on interventions to overcome the constraints identified, but there are cost-effective examples of approaches that have worked. Such interventions could precede, accompany or follow broader structural changes to health coverage provision.

Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

### **Acknowledgements**

This paper was authored by Anthony McDonnell (Research Associate, Overseas Development Institute (ODI)) and Emma Samman (Research Associate, ODI). We are equal co-authors of this paper. We thank Anne Buffardi (ODI), José Manuel Roche (Save the Children UK) and Moizza Binat Sarwar (ODI) for their excellent peer review, which very much improved this paper. Susan Nicolai and Liz Stuart oversaw the work at different stages of the process. We are grateful to Elizabeth Tribone for coordinating the paper's production, Hannah Caddick for editing, Anil Shamdasani for typesetting and Nikki Lee for proofreading.

This paper was funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. The findings and conclusions contained within are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the positions or policies of ODI or the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

## **Contents**

Acknowledgements			3
Lis	st of b	5	
Acronyms			6
1	Intro	oduction	7
2	Why	groups get left behind in health	11
3	Ways that groups are left out of health systems		13
	3.1	Social constraints	13
	3.2	Physical constraints	16
	3.3	Economic constraints	18
	3.4	Interactions between different constraining factors	20
4	The cost of reaching at-risk groups		22
	4.1	Overcoming social constraints	22
	4.2	Overcoming physical constraints	24
	4.3	Overcoming economic constraints	25
5	5 Conclusion		27
Re	feren	ces	29
An	nex 1	Methodology	39
	Sear	rch of academic articles	39
	Grey	39	

## List of boxes and figures

#### **Boxes**

Box 1	Explaining progress toward universal health coverage	8
Box 2	Estimates of size of the selected groups at risk of being left behind	9
Box 3	The impact of discriminatory legislation on sex workers	16
Box 4	Physical barriers to attending health facilities in Brazil	17
Box 5	Using drones to reduce physical barriers to health supplies	25

#### **Figures**

Figure 1 Constraints to healthcare access

13

## Acronyms

HIV human immunodeficiency virus LGBT lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender LIC low-income country LMIC lower middle-income country MIC middle-income country MSM men who have sex with men PTSD post-traumatic stress disorder PWD people with disabilities SDG Sustainable Development Goal SSA sub-Saharan Africa TB tuberculosis UHC universal health coverage UMIC upper middle-income country

## **1** Introduction

Despite the fundamental importance of health, both intrinsically and in contributing to achievements in other dimensions of wellbeing, access to good quality basic healthcare is sorely lacking. According to the World Health Organization, more than half the world's 5.6 million 'early child deaths ... could be prevented or treated with access to simple, affordable interventions' and 'at least half of the world's 7.3 billion people do not receive the essential health services they need' (WHO, 2018). In low-income and middle-income countries (LICs and MICs), it is estimated that 3.6 million deaths each year result from a lack of access to healthcare (Kruk et al., 2018) and that upwards of 5 million deaths yearly result from poor quality care (Kruk et al., 2018; NASEM, 2018). The current Covid-19 pandemic is drawing into relief the risks posed by a lack of universal coverage, to people who are excluded and the societies within which they reside, and amplifies the need for universal health coverage (Samman, 2020).

The need to build universal health systems is a pivotal step to extending access to healthcare. However, even within a universal system, different groups of people may face specific constraints in accessing quality healthcare. It is these constraints, and the targeted policies that could support people to overcome them, that we focus on in this paper. This emphasis is not meant to distract from the broader structural reforms needed to attain universal health coverage (UHC). Rather, we agree with Rao et al. (2019: 130) that 'vulnerable populations are a bellwether for the success of UHC policies', and with Klasen and Fleurbaey (2018) that 'leave no one behind' should be 'a guide to an overall development strategy, not a guide for specific targeted interventions[;] targeted interventions come as a result of insufficiencies in the overall

strategy, not as a replacement of a strategy' (2018: 8).

In a companion paper, we synthesise the existing literature and global and regional trends underlying progress towards UHC, as well as the enablers, strategies and constraints that 49 countries have faced in trying to build universal healthcare systems (Box 1). However, it is broadly acknowledged that universal policy may be insufficient to reach groups who may have specific needs and face specific barriers to accessing services. Indeed, this was implicit in our operational definition of UHC: where a country provides 'healthcare and financial protection to more than 90% of [their] citizens' (Stephane Tajick Consulting, 2018). Per Rao et al. (2019), 'Numerous studies on health disparities have affirmed the inverse care law, which states that those with the greatest health needs receive the least healthcare services' (2019: 130). It follows that our focus here is on targeted interventions that could precede, accompany or follow broader structural reforms.

Our interest in policies targeted towards underserved groups aligns with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development pledge to 'leave no one behind' as it applies to healthcare. Underpinning the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the fundamental aspiration to leave no one behind has two key aspects - to 'see the Goals and targets met for all ... segments of society' and 'to reach the furthest behind first' (UN, 2015). This approach is known as progressive universalism. The SDG outcomes document provides an illustrative list of the groups who are consistently left behind but also stresses the need for countries to identify and illuminate the circumstances of disadvantaged or marginalised groups in each national context (ibid.). Many definitions and overarching frameworks have been proposed to

#### Box 1 Explaining progress toward universal health coverage

Universal health coverage aims 'to ensure that all people obtain the health services they need without suffering financial hardship when paying for them'. Key elements include: an effective health system geared toward priority health needs; affordability of care; access to essential medicines and technologies, and well-trained and motivated health workers (WHO, 2014).

Our previous research highlights some common enablers of country progress towards UHC. We found that most countries moved towards UHC as a result of disruption to the status quo, notably shifts towards democracy or recovery from episodes of state fragility. We also uncovered peer effects: the barrier for disruption is lower when neighbours and peers have already achieved UHC.

Our findings point to the gradual nature of progress: most governments do not aim to achieve UHC when they start investing in health; rather, they progress towards it through a series of iterative reforms and once universality is achieved, it tends to last. Finally, wealth was not a major determining factor in the achievement of UHC among LICs and MICs, although many countries cite limited resources as a constraint. Instead, decisions are driven by a willingness to make trade-offs; recent economic growth made these trade-offs easier and UHC more likely.

Only a small number (fewer than 30%) of the countries we studied set out with a plan of achieving UHC and in their initial strategies, it is an exception rather than the rule to see vulnerable groups being reached first. With their later strategies, all countries sought to attain universality and most (around 90%) expressed an intention to prioritise access for those who were furthest behind.

Source: McDonnell et al. (2019)

identify 'left-behind' groups based on aspects of identity, experience or location. For example, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP, 2018) proposes five factors as key to understanding who is left behind and why: discrimination, place of residence, socioeconomic status, governance and vulnerability to shocks. Save the Children has adopted a more pragmatic focus, identifying the 'world's poorest 20% of households' and the key child-centered deprivations they face (Wise et al., 2018). Sudden shocks may call for more specific definitions: the Covid-19 pandemic, for example, is focusing attention on high-risk groups such as people who are older; living in congregate facilities notably nursing homes and prisons; who belong to marginalised ethnic or racial groups; who are without homes; who live in densely populated

urban environments; and/or whose economic circumstances make lockdown an infeasible proposition.

In our previous work, we aimed to illustrate general tendencies across nearly 50 countries. We therefore adopted a broad definition of groups at risk of being left behind as those who have less access to or fewer benefits from health services because of where they live or aspects of who they are. In this paper, our focus is more selective. Given our interest in specificity, in the course of our initial review, we identified five groups that are often left behind by healthcare systems for different reasons: lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) individuals;<sup>1</sup> sex workers; forced migrants and displaced people; people with disabilities (PWD); and people living in rural areas (Box 2). We have sought to focus

<sup>1</sup> We recognise that LGBT is a reductionist category that does not include all aspects of sexuality and gender with which people identify (the acronym LGBTQI+, for example, includes additionally 'queer' and 'intersex' identification, as well as a '+' to denote greater inclusion). However, we use LGBT in this paper as it is the most widely used term in the evidence we review and includes the categories within this larger designation for which we were able to identify data on health access and health outcomes.

#### Box 2 Estimates of size of the selected groups at risk of being left behind

Although we focus on groups that typically constitute a small minority of country populations (except for rural dwellers), their numbers are important globally. The impetus for focusing on atrisk groups should not be based on size alone. However, the numbers do suggest that the benefits from investing in these peoples' health could be considerable.

We uncovered the following estimates on the population of the left-behind groups we focus on in this paper:

- Although stigma complicates collecting data on **sexual minorities**, country studies report that between 2% and 6% of populations identify as lesbian, gay or bisexual (Kementerian Kesehatan, 2014, in Lee Badgett et al., 2017; Wu and Stevens-Davidowitz, 2014), though data is patchy and evidence from social media suggests these figures may be underestimates (Baral et al., 2018). Evidence is particularly limited on lesbians (Tat et al., 2015) and there is little if any data on transgender people (Samelius and Wagberg, 2005). Research on LGBT groups in LICs and MICs is often held back by difficulty in identifying these populations, particularly in countries where discrimination is highest.
- The latest statistics on **people with disabilities** are dated: the 2011 World Report on Disability suggests that 1 billion people, or about 15% of the world's population, may have a disability, and that up to 5% of people face 'significant difficulties' in functioning (World Bank and WHO, 2011). Globally, rates of disability are increasing as people live longer.
- There are an estimated 272 million international migrants, constituting 3.5% of the global population (UN DESA, 2019). As of 2018, there were 70.8 million forcibly displaced people, 41.1 million of who were internally displaced and 84% of whom were in LICs or MICs. Some 3.5 million people were awaiting decisions on their asylum, including nearly 140,000 unaccompanied children (UNHCR, 2019).
- The number of **sex workers** globally is unknown. The only estimate we could identify is from Fondation Scelles, which reports an estimate of 40-42 million sex workers globally (of which 48% are under the age of 18, and 80% are female) though it cautions that there are significant data gaps in many regions of the world (Goldmann, 2011).<sup>i</sup>
- As of 2017, 45% of the world's people lived in **rural areas**. The share is higher in poorer countries, averaging 68% in LICs (World Bank, 2019). Economic development and migration are leading to a rapid decline in the share of rural dwellers globally, though their absolute number continues to increase (UN DESA, 2018).

Aspects of identity, experience and location may overlap, amplifying the potential exclusions that individuals and communities face. For example, the prevalence of disability is higher in LICs among women and in rural areas (World Bank and WHO, 2011), while sexual minorities are likely to be overrepresented among the income-poor owing to barriers to education and employment (SOGI Task Force and Koehler, 2015). At the same time, little is known in LICs and MICs about how some categories overlap, e.g. 'the sexuality of people with disabilities within many LICs has received little or no empirical investigation' (Carew et al., 2017: 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Goldmann (2011) attributes the 40-42 million figure (which is widely cited) to 'UN, 2009' but does not provide any reference and we could not locate the original citation. Other reasons it is so difficult to ascertain the number of sex workers is that most estimates are based on convenience sampling, from jails, health clinics and drug treatment programmes, while many sex workers may not disclose their occupation for fear of stigma or legal prosecution (Sawicki et al., 2019).

on groups that are less frequently studied,<sup>2</sup> but recognise that this does not take into account other highly salient aspects of disadvantage that are likely to affect many more people – notably inequalities between cis-gender men and women, and those relating to age, ethnicity or race, religion and socioeconomic status, among others (and indeed, we do not overlook how some of these aspects affect some members of the groups we focus on more than others). Our intent is not to be comprehensive but to understand better the impacts of selected aspects of identity (being a sexual minority or transgender, having a disability or impairment), experience (displacement, sex work) and location (living in a rural area). We do not suggest that everyone in these groups is left behind, but that the probability is greater (as is the risk of their not having access to quality services), despite many people within these groups being more exposed to health risks.

This paper provides a selective review of the academic and grey literature on impediments to accessing quality healthcare for these atrisk groups and ways they can be tackled (see Annex 1 for details of the search strategy). It has two objectives. The first is to understand better the static constraints at-risk groups face in accessing quality healthcare - from both the supply side (service availability) and the demand side (service uptake). It is important to underline - not least in light of the Covid-19 pandemic that this paper does not directly address exposure to dynamic shocks such as disease outbreaks, natural disasters, and cross-border population movements, all of which can exacerbate existing vulnerabilities and create new ones (Rao et al., 2019: 132). Evaluating the impact of shocks is of course critical to understanding poor health outcomes - but here our interest is on longstanding structural constraints that condition exclusion. These constraints may be physical,

social or economic, and can interact in ways that multiply the exclusions associated with each individually, exacerbating inequalities in health outcomes.

These exclusions, in turn, have a considerable cost - both directly and in terms of foregone opportunities. For example, the cost of exclusion resulting from homophobia has been estimated at between \$1.2 billion and \$27 billion in India (up to 1.4% of gross domestic product), and between \$0.9 billion and \$12 billion in Indonesia (Lee Badgett et al., 2017). In LICs, 85–95% of people who need assistive technology are unable to obtain it, although this is one of the most important requirements for being able to participate in education, employment and civic life (UNICEF and WHO, 2015). A recurring theme in the literature is that many governments do not spend enough on basic health services and the burden falls disproportionately on the left behind. To give one example, mental ill-health - which disproportionally affects the groups we consider – receives only around 2% of the health budget in MICs and 0.5% in LICs, despite constituting more than 10% of the global burden of disease (Murray et al., 2013; Mental Health ATLAS, 2011; WHO, 2013, in Banks and Polack, 2015). As a result, in a survey of seven LICs and MICs, fewer than 4% of people who need mental health treatment had received minimally adequate care (Wang et al., 2007, in ibid.).

At the same time, some countries offer costeffective examples of 'what works' in addressing these constraints. Our second objective is therefore to highlight specific interventions the literature suggests could enable governments and other actors to deliver better services to these left-behind groups. The focus on cost effectiveness is not intended to detract from the moral case for improving access to healthcare but rather seeks to understand how this can be done in resource-scarce contexts.

<sup>2</sup> Frequently studied characteristics include poverty, race or ethnicity, chronic illness, a lack of insurance and old age (Grabavaschi et al., 2013, in Rao et al., 2019: 134).

## 2 Why groups get left behind in health

Exploring at-risk groups' experiences reveals diverse constraints to accessing quality healthcare – both in terms of demand for and the supply of services. It also points to various interventions that could help to alleviate them. Typically, groups at risk of being left behind have a higher need for health services than the general population. This is mostly the result of socioeconomic inequalities, as evident in a huge body literature on the social determinants of health. Some examples are given here.

While many health needs of LGBT people are similar to those of heterosexual, cisgender people, rates of depression, anxiety and suicidality are far higher in the former group, in part due to higher rates of exposure to psychological, physical and sexual violence (Baral et al., 2009; Sandfort et al., 2015; Tat et al., 2015; Lee Badgett et al., 2017; 2019). For example, in the EU, in a 2013 survey of LGBT respondents, 26% reported physical or sexual violence in the preceding five years (FRA, 2013, in Lee Badgett, 2019). In India, rates of clinical depression among men who have sex with men (MSM) appear to be 6 to 12 times higher than population rates, while the LGBT suicidal ideation rate was 7 to 14 times the LIC and MIC average (Lee Badgett, 2014). Data on exposure to sexual violence remains sparse. While in South Africa it is documented that lesbians experience higher rates of sexual assault and rape, this research has yet to be replicated in other LIC and MIC environments (Sandfort et al., 2015). Reports on murders of transgender people are increasingly being collected (see

HRC and TPOCC (2019) on the United States), but barriers to data collection preclude the production of accurate homicide statistics for this population.

Worldwide, both MSM and transgender women<sup>3</sup> are disproportionately affected by HIV (human immunodeficiency virus) and other sexually transmitted diseases (Beyrer et al., 2012; Reisner et al., 2016; Baral et al., 2018). In sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), for example, a metaanalysis concluded the average HIV prevalence rate was 18% among MSM, nearly 5 times higher than the prevalence rate among men in the general population (Hessou et al., 2019). Recent research and epidemiological modelling suggest that HIV prevalence rates for MSM are higher than adult population rates for a variety of biological and behavioural reasons, particularly because of the 'high per-act and per-partner transmission probability of HIV transmission in receptive anal sex' (Beyrer et al., 2012: 43). In fact, the recipient in anal sex is 18 times more likely to contract HIV than in vaginal sex (Patel et al., 2014). MSM also tend to have lower rates of condom use than heterosexuals (Zuckerman et al., 2004; Glick et al., 2012), which increases the likelihood of exposure to sexually transmitted disease. MSM may also be more likely to inject drugs (Johnston et al., 2010; Wei et al., 2012).

A recent meta-analysis of the global literature found that 19.1% of transgender women are HIV positive, compared with 0.4% of all reproductiveage adults, a finding that also holds for wealthier countries (Baral et al., 2013, in Lee Badgett et al., 2019). It is argued that discrimination

<sup>3</sup> We are cognizant that transgender is a term used to refer to 'all those whose gender identities do not align, according to societal expectations, with their birth-assigned sex', including non-binary people (Kapitan n.d.). In this paper, where we refer to transgender women or men, we are adopting the terminology used in the original work we are citing.

contributes to the impoverishment of transgender women worldwide, inhibiting access to housing, employment and services, and increasing the likelihood of participation in sex work (ibid.).

Sex workers face some of the same health risks as MSM. They are likely to underuse condoms, often because of pressure from clients or managers,<sup>4</sup> and their sexual behaviour carries much higher risk owing to their number of sexual partners. Female sex workers are 13.5 times more likely to be HIV positive than other women (Baral et al., 2012); in SSA, prevalence rates are 10-20 fold higher than among the general population (Scorgie et al., 2011: 920). A systematic review of female sex workers in SSA found that their vulnerability to HIV is 'inextricably linked to the occupational contexts of their work, characterised most commonly by poverty, endemic violence, criminalisation, high mobility and hazardous alcohol use. These, in turn, predict behaviors such as low condom use, anal sex and co-infection with other sexually transmitted infections' (ibid: 920). Moreover, in many settings, there is considerable overlap between female sex workers and injecting drug use, putting them at a dual risk of infection (Stockman and Strathdee, 2010).

Sex workers report far higher rates of physical, sexual and verbal violence; between 32% and 55% of females working mostly in street-based sex work reported workplace violence in a given year (Deering et al., 2014). They are also much likelier to suffer drug addiction. All of these outcomes result in a higher likelihood of mental health problems. Disentangling the direction of causality can be challenging. Nonetheless, several observational studies show that sex workers are much more likely to report self-harm, anxiety, depression and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) than the public at large. It is estimated that 68% of sex workers in 9 HICs and MICs met the criteria for PTSD (Farley et al., 2008).

Displaced people can have greatly different health needs, often having suffered physical injuries, PTSD, and much greater levels of stress and anxiety. In 2018, 68% of the 81,300 refugee resettlement submissions made were for victims of violence or torture (UNCHR, 2019). In such cases, people require specialised health treatment to overcome the trauma, but often do not receive any. A lack of treatment compounds mental health problems, which may in turn be worsened by isolation in their new surroundings (Sijbrandij et al., 2017). Economic migrants too may have a higher demand for health services where their migration is driven by poorer access to healthcare or the act of migrating to a different environment provokes mental health issues (Virupaksha et al., 2014). Other categories of displaced people – internally displaced people, asylum seekers - are also likely to have unique health needs.

People living in rural areas tend to be poorer and less well educated, more likely to move into substandard housing and to be lacking in nutrition (Rodríguez-Pose and Hardy, 2015), all factors that can result in poorer health and a higher demand for health services.

<sup>4</sup> Per Goldmann (2011), 90% of female sex workers rely on a 'pimp'.

# 3 Ways that groups are left out of health systems

The evidence base highlights the static or persisting social, physical and economic constraints that cause people to be left behind in accessing health services. These constraints affect both the supply of health services and the demand for them. We explore each type of constraint individually and then discuss ways in which they can interact, which in some cases amplifies a lack of access to healthcare (Figure 1). Section 3.1 introduces three social constraints – norms and stigma, cultural and linguistic differences and laws – and provides examples of how they are experienced and their consequences for particular groups. Section 3.2 explores physical constraints, focusing on distance from care, understaffing, supply-side issues, sudden population shifts and relatively low political capital. Section 3.3 turns to economic constraints, namely the cost of treatment and of transport to health facilities, and the costs associated with childcare and unpaid leave, and finally section 3.4 highlights intersections between these factors.

#### 3.1 Social constraints

Social constraints to accessing healthcare arise from prejudicial norms and associated stigma, cultural and linguistic differences, inferior legal status and interactions between these

#### Figure 1 Constraints to healthcare access



factors. These factors can lead patients to conceal information about risky behaviours and they engender isolation and loneliness – mental health issues that can also result in problematic behaviours such as higher substance use. Feelings of exclusion may be particularly acute for some groups, notably migrants and displaced people who lack a social network or face cultural differences in their new surroundings.

Some at-risk groups face similar health needs to the general population but experience differing outcomes due to social considerations. Other groups may face more complex health needs that result from who they are, but these needs may not be met due to prejudice. Nor are these experiences mutually exclusive: sex workers and LGBT communities, for example, may have health needs that differ in some respects from those of the general population, but they are often also failed where their health needs are identical. This is the case in India, where 85% of MSM reported police harassment, which in turn impeded their access to HIV services (Safren et al., 2006).

#### 3.1.1 Norms and stigma

Stigma and discrimination affect both healthseeking behaviour and health provision. This is evident in the situation of PWD, who rarely (if ever) face overt legal barriers to accessing health services that relate to their impairment. Nevertheless, negative social attitudes, misconceptions and stigma often impede PWD in accessing the care they need. In some societies, a perception that disabilities derive from sin or witchcraft discourages people from seeking out conventional medicine (DSPD, 2016; Groce and McGeown, 2017). Even when this is not the case, discomfort or communication barriers and a lack of understanding on the part of healthcare staff often undermine the care people receive (Bright and Kuper, 2018). Family members often mistake signs of illness as being part of a person's disability and are therefore less likely to suggest taking them to receive healthcare. Or people may not understand that care is needed because of particular misconceptions, such as the commonly held view that PWD are not sexually

active, which leads to a lack of sexual education and reproductive healthcare provision. This lack of understanding can also mean that often very simple treatments that will improve people's lives are not funded (Banks and Polack, 2015; Carew et al., 2017).

Even when PWD are taken to healthcare practitioners, the treatment they receive may be substandard. Across 51 countries, PWD were 'more than twice as likely to report finding healthcare provider skills inadequate to meet their needs, four times more likely to report being treated badly and nearly three times more likely to report being denied needed care' (WHO, 2018). They are also significantly less likely to seek out healthcare because of previous ill-treatment, discrimination that is particularly acute among working-age men and people seeking in-patient care. Finally, in some resourceconstrained environments, treating PWD can be perceived as representing poor value for money, on the basis that they will not be able to return to 'full health' (World Bank and WHO, 2011; Banks and Polack, 2015).

Stigma can also increase the risk of sexual ill health. The lower rate of condom use among MSM is partly attributable to stigma, which can inhibit people when it comes to obtaining health advice that might include advocating condom use. Stigma may also result in higher prevalence of sexually transmitted disease by stopping men participating in HIV testing (Lorway et al., 2014).

Although strategies in most high-prevalence HIV countries identify MSM as an at-risk population, specific programmes for this group are extremely limited, owing in part to widespread homophobia and, in some countries, the criminalisation of same-sex practices (UNAIDS, 2017). According to Avert (2018), stigma and discrimination render it very challenging to target HIV financing to key populations (MSM and people who inject drugs). The result is that only 2% of all HIV funding and around 9% of resources allocated for prevention are spent on these groups, despite 40% to 50% of all new HIV infections in adults occurring among these populations and their partners.

#### 3.1.2 Cultural and linguistic differences

Health disparities need not be driven by overt discrimination on the part of health policymakers or clinicians. Linguistic or cultural differences between groups such as displaced people and health providers may also create communication or trust barriers that make it harder to diagnose illnesses, especially mental illness (Suphanchaimat et al., 2015) and to communicate the risk of treatments, notably where there is a need to rely on medically inexperienced translators (Meuter et al., 2015). The result is that patients may be less likely to seek out treatment or trust the advice they are given. PWD may also encounter this type of barrier in instances where, for example, healthcare professionals find it difficult to communicate with people with hearing or intellectual impairment (Bright and Kuper, 2018).

#### 3.1.3 Legally sanctioned discrimination

Legal issues may be paramount for some communities, such as migrants or displaced people who lack documentation or legal status (PICUM, 2017). Indeed, these communities often struggle to access health services due to their concerns about immigration controls enacted via health providers (Abubakar et al., 2018; Winters et al., 2018). Often, stigma is reflected in and reinforced by legal prohibitions – which, again, result in both a higher need for care and the reduced availability and uptake of basic health services. In some countries, distinct types of legal discrimination are evident, such as in China, where internal migrants face difficulties accessing services under the hukou system.

Among displaced people, LGBT communities and sex workers, discrimination and legal aspects often intersect. For example, laws in 71 countries that prohibit homosexuality also reinforce discriminatory attitudes (ILGA, 2019); and the higher prevalence of mental ill-health among LGBT populations is driven by prejudicial social norms, which tend to correlate with the societal acceptance of homosexuality (Wagner et al., 2013; Oosterhoff et al., 2014). Often, such discriminatory attitudes are legally sanctioned, which allows police and health workers to be extractive or coercive towards those in need of help. For example, in Nigeria, the passage of the Same Sex Marriage (Prohibition) Act in 2014 led MSM to report an immediate increase in 'fear of seeking healthcare, avoidance of healthcare, absence of safe spaces to socialise with other MSM, blackmail, and verbal harassment' (Schwartz et al., 2015). One consequence was a large decline in the number of men taking HIV tests.

At the extreme, pathologising attitudes toward homosexuality have provoked medical and sexual abuse. In India, homosexuals have been subject to conversion therapy, psychopharmacological drugs and shock therapy (Samelius and Wagberg, 2005: 25; Fernandez, 2002, in Zaman et al., 2016: 11). In Indonesia, homosexuality and bisexuality have been characterised as psychiatric problems, and transsexuality as a mental disorder (PDSKJI, 2016, in Lee Badgett et al., 2017), and there are accounts of rape being used to 'cure' cis-gender lesbian and bisexual women and transgender men (Lee Badgett et al., 2017). Transgender women and gender non-conforming men in Indonesia (waria) must contend with lack of legal status (almost 70% of waria in Jakarta do not possess legal citizenship documents), which prevents them from accessing healthcare, and many are afraid to petition for identification documents for of fear of harassment (ibid.). It is also more difficult for LGBT groups to seek legal redress when they encounter problems; the reporting rate for sexual violence among LGBT groups appears to be lower the more heteronormative a country is (Finneran et al., 2012).

As with MSM, stigma greatly reduces sex workers' health access, and the standard of care that they receive varies greatly (Baral et al., 2012). This stigma can be reflected in and compounded by legal prohibitions on sex work (Box 3). Despite pervasive violence, the criminalisation of sex work prevents female sex workers from reporting violence to the police or seeking legal recourse following rape or sexual assault, and there is increasing documentation of police harassment and brutality against them (Scorgie et al., 2011). Female sex workers also face a very high rate of unintended pregnancy, in part because many rely on only one method of contraception – condoms. This is often because

## Box 3 The impact of discriminatory legislation on sex workers

A recent systematic review of the impact of criminalising legislation on sex work concludes that it is linked to "extensive harms" among sex workers. It finds that sex workers who were criminalised were displaced into isolated locations, reduced client screening procedures, and avoided healthcare settings and HIV testing, owing to fear of police and an increased police presence. They were three times as likely as other sex workers to have experienced sexual or physical violence, twice as likely to contract HIV or another sexually transmitted infection and one and a half times as likely to report condomless sex with a client.

Source: Platt et al. (2019)

of either poor sexual health education or lack of access to other birth control.<sup>5</sup> In much of the world abortions are illegal and this can drive female sex workers to have an unsafe abortion, 22 million of which take place across the world every year (Rekart, 2015).

#### 3.2 Physical constraints

Physical constraints can also inhibit demand for healthcare, where people find it difficult to access health services, and the supply of services, where geography hinders provision. Such constraints are perhaps most acute for PWD and rural dwellers in LICs and MICs (and notably for PWD living in rural areas). For rural dwellers, physical constraints arise from increased distance from services, the reluctance of medical personnel to work in rural areas and less developed supply chains, which reflects and accentuates their relatively low political capital. The International Labour Organization estimates that 56% of rural people globally do not have access to essential healthcare, compared to 22% of people living in urban areas (Scheil-Adlung, 2015).<sup>6</sup> The number of rural people without any entitlement to healthcare provision rises to 83% in Africa (ibid.).

#### 3.2.1 Physical distance

A primary blockage to providing healthcare in sparsely populated areas is that people will, on average, always be further from care centres. The population density of Africa is 45 people per square kilometre, but it is not uncommon for cities to have between 500 and 1,000 times this level of population density. If doctors and hospitals are assigned geographically and group populations of the same size, then a person in a city with 500 times the density will on average be 22 times closer to healthcare services. Proximity is also conditioned by topography as well as distance, and physical infrastructure - including roads and transport options. It is unsurprising, then, that proximity to care appears to be the barrier that has attracted the most attention in the literature.

Physical barriers PWD face in accessing healthcare include buildings and services that are not designed to allow access for those with physical impairments (Box 4). Significantly more facilities lack the appropriate equipment and training to deal with people with sensory or intellectual disabilities, hindering their ability to obtain treatment (Banks and Polack, 2015).

<sup>5</sup> Condoms are far from perfect as a birth control method, mostly (but not entirely) because of incorrect use. The average sexually active woman who uses only condoms as a form of birth control has a 15% chance of becoming pregnant in a given year, a risk that falls to 2% if condoms are correctly used (Planned Parenthood, 2020). Because female sex workers have sex far more often than the average, the risk of unintended pregnancy is much higher, which has led health promoters to recommend the use of a second method of contraception. This advice is often not heeded in lower-income settings, however.

<sup>6</sup> These figures refer to the proportion of the population 'that is not protected by legislation or affiliated to a national health service or health scheme and which therefore does not have the right to access health care when in need' (Scheil-Adlung, 2015: 6).

## Box 4 Physical barriers to attending health facilities in Brazil

A study in 41 Brazilian municipalities focused on the conditions of basic healthcare units, using information based on a survey of healthcare professionals working in 241 randomly sampled units. The study concluded that 60% of these facilities did not have adequate architectural adjustments to allow older people and those living with disabilities to attend, with barriers including the presence of steps and a lack of handrails, ramps, bathrooms adapted for wheelchair users and adequate waiting rooms. It argued that rectifying these deficiencies was essential, not least in light of population ageing (itself associated with an increase in the share of PWD) and an increase in chronic disease.

Source: Siqueira et al. (2009)

In almost every area of health, proximity to care and transport difficulties emerge as a major barrier. In a review of drivers of maternal mortality in LICs and MICs, Bohren et al. identify living in a rural area and poor transportation as one of the biggest barriers to safe child delivery (2014: 13):

In some areas, local public transportation was the only means available, but services were often intermittent in rural areas and the cost of transportation was prohibitively expensive. Travel at night or on weekends is especially difficult as there are fewer options and higher costs.

Even where suitable clinics exist, many PWD struggle to travel to them, because of an inadequate national infrastructure or because healthcare systems have not created an adequate alternative to supply them with the care that they need (e.g. by travelling to immobile patients or providing transport for PWD so that they need not rely on public transport) (O'Keefe, 2007; World Bank and WHO, 2011).

PWD living in rural areas appear to struggle far more than their urban counterparts in obtaining healthcare. Transportation is a major issue in LICs and MICs, because transport infrastructure and systems are not usually designed to accommodate the travel needs of PWD. As people in rural areas must travel further for basic services such as healthcare, these travel difficulties become more significant. In a recent systematic review, five of seven studies cited transport as a barrier to health access (Bright and Kuper, 2018). The problem of proximity to care is particularly important for PWD in rural areas, as there is normally not a critical mass of people to create specific healthcare facilities to deal with specialist health needs such as having a disability (World Bank and WHO, 2011).

It follows that rural residents are unable to seek out care as often as those in urban areas, and there is a much longer delay in receiving treatment. This is particularly problematic for emergency care where speed is often essential. A systematic review of all barriers to emergency care in LICs and MICs found that 'one of the biggest challenges in many rural low resource settings is the scarcity of emergency care, and where present, the distance and time to access appropriate services' (Kironji et al., 2018). But in non-emergency settings, distance is still a major factor. For example, a study in Ghana found that doubling the distance between patients and their local healthcare centre halved service use (O'Donnell, 2007), while people in rural areas of Pakistan were about half as likely to undergo abdominal surgery, all else being equal (Zafar et al., 2013). Analysis of 34 studies focused on SSA found that geographic and transport-related barriers led to less favourable outcomes at every stage of HIV treatment (Lankowski et al., 2014). Similar results have been found for treatment for hypertension (Chow et al., 2013) and cancer (Brand et al., 2019).

#### 3.2.2 Sudden population shifts

Governments may find it difficult to adapt services in line with population growth. For example, population density often increases quickly in the areas of a city where migrants settle, and these groups may struggle with care provision where health resources are not reallocated swiftly. For migrants, such underinvestment may also be reinforced by their lack of documentation or proof of residence, both of which are often needed to establish entitlement to healthcare.<sup>7</sup> The evidence suggests that, too often, health inequalities in urban areas are not addressed as quickly as they ought to be (WHO and UN-Habitat, 2016).

#### 3.2.3 Understaffing of health services

Not only are patients further from clinics and care centres in rural areas, but existing care centres struggle to maintain appropriate staffing levels. There appear to be two main reasons. Firstly, it is difficult to convince doctors and nurses to work in rural areas, so the quantity and quality of medical personnel is lower (Vujicic et al., 2009; Awofeso, 2011; Gray and Budgell, 2011; Budhathoki et al., 2017). Secondly, health professionals who do work in rural areas often have very low attendance rates, probably in part because of lower morale and because they are more likely to work on their own, which means they face less social pressure from colleagues and absenteeism is harder to monitor (Banerjee et al., 2004; Chaudhury et al., 2006; Belita et al., 2013).

#### 3.2.4 Supply-side issues

Much of the literature highlights difficulties in getting supplies to doctors and clinics in rural areas. A Lancet review of surgery procedures in 21 LICs and MICs found that rural hospitals were consistently constrained by 'inadequacies in basic infrastructure, equipment, supplies, and access to banked blood' (Raykar et al., 2015). There are some genuinely difficult problems to overcome in resourcing rural hospitals. Because they see fewer patients, demand fluctuations are greater than in urban areas, making it harder to predict patient numbers. Poor storage, transport and communication infrastructure exacerbate this by making it difficult to store or replenish supplies. These problems could be reduced by improved forecasting systems, the use of multiple distributors and better inventory management (Dowling, 2011; Penfold et al., 2013; Wagenaar et al., 2014).

#### 3.2.5 Limited political capital

Being in a disadvantaged or marginalised position is both a cause and consequence of having limited political capital. In rural areas, relatively low political capital is linked to physical distance. The evidence suggests that corruption and neglect, partly driven by lower levels of political engagement, prevent rural dwellers in many countries from demanding accountability and better services (Zafar et al., 2013). This chimes with development literature from other fields, which reveals that being further away from where decisions are made renders it harder for people to highlight their concerns to politicians and to protest or campaign (Lipton, 1977; Majumdar et al., 2004; Bezemer and Headey, 2008).

#### 3.3 Economic constraints

Left-behind groups tend to be relatively income poor; indeed, this is a key reason that many have needs that are not being met by healthcare systems. Economic constraints exist when people cannot access quality healthcare because they cannot afford either the direct costs of healthcare (i.e. medicine, inpatient or outpatient care), and/ or the indirect costs, such as transport, time off work and childcare. Globally, between 3.8 billion and 5.0 billion people lack access to all essential healthcare, while 100 million people are forced into poverty because of high health costs (World Bank, 2017). Economic constraints are likely to be more acute for at-risk groups not only because their incomes tend to be lower, but also because their health and transport needs differ.

<sup>7</sup> Refugees in camps will also be subject to a different set of regulations governing service provision.

#### 3.3.1 Treatment costs

Overall, the impact of healthcare costs appears to be worsening: the incidence of catastrophic health spending (that exceeding 10% of income) has risen from 9.4% of the world's population in 2000 to 12.7% in 2015 (WHO, 2019b). The hardships fall disproportionately on vulnerable groups, even in countries such as China and Thailand that have supposedly universal health financing systems (Rao et al., 2019: 136–137).

The groups we consider in this paper are likely to be poorer than the population average - in many cases because they are less likely to receive a quality education or to be employed. Substantive data validates this claim for people in rural areas and PWD. The global extreme poverty headcount is 17% in rural areas, more than three times as high as that in urban areas (World Bank, 2018). Across 51 countries, rural households faced a larger burden from out-ofpocket payments, mainly due to higher spending on medicines (Saksena et al., 2010). Studies from all parts of the world affirm a higher risk of incurring catastrophic health expenditures among rural relative to urban households: in several Latin American countries, it was 2-4 times higher (Knaul et al., 2010), in Iran, 82% higher (Amiresmaili and Emrani, 2019), in India, 27% higher (Pandey et al., 2018) and in Nigeria, up to 66% higher (Cleopatra et al., 2018). The evidence also shows that having a disability and living in poverty are highly correlated (Mitra, 2018). In LICs, around half of PWD are unable to afford healthcare compared with one-third of people without a disability (WHO, 2019a). More broadly, PWD are 60% likelier than the rest of the population to cite an inability to pay as their main reason for not seeking healthcare.8

Evidence on catastrophic health spending among the other groups that we consider is lacking, but the available data points to greater economic insecurity than among the general population, which is likely to constrain access to quality health services. For example, a lack of economic opportunity appears to be a critical driver of entry into sex work. In a systematic review of sex workers in SSA, Scorgie et al. (2011: 924) find:

Many young African women who trade sex for food, money or shelter come from disadvantaged backgrounds, are poorly educated, divorced, and lack the skills required for other types of formal or informal employment. A startling proportion of [female sex workers] in West and East Africa have received no formal education—well more than 10% in most of these studies and above a third in several. Economic and food insecurity may make sex work the sole survival option for women, particularly those with dependents or whose parents have died.

For sexual minorities and transgender people, the sparse evidence also points to economic constraints. For the United States, households headed by same-sex couples, especially lesbian couples, are more likely to be in poverty than those headed by heterosexual married couples (Schneebaum and Lee Badgett, 2018). Evidence from lower-income countries, based largely on non-representative samples, suggests LGBT populations are vulnerable to poverty in India and in Brazil.9 For transgender people, the evidence is scarcer still, but convenience samples for the United States suggest high levels of unemployment and low incomes (Lee Badgett et al., 2009). Finally, the literature on IDPs and refugee communities also highlights their experience of high poverty rates relative to their own countries prior to displacement and relative to their host countries (in the case of refugees), as well as specific barriers to accessing health services in host countries (Samman et al., 2018). This is reflected in data for the United States showing that 9% of citizens are

<sup>8</sup> Per WHO and World Bank (2011: 66), across 51 countries, '32–33% of nondisabled men and women cannot afford health care, compared with 51–53% of people with disabilities'.

<sup>9</sup> For India, Khan et al. (2005); Newman et al. (2008) and Masih et al. (2012); and for Brazil, Itaborahy (2014), all cited in Scneebaum and Lee Badgett (2018).

uninsured, a figure that rises to 23% among immigrants with legal status and 45% among those who lack documentation (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2020).

High health costs also mean that lower-income households must often spend on healthcare money that would otherwise go towards education and food, perpetuating or exacerbating a cycle of poverty within the poorest parts of the world. Often, an inability to invest in soap, malaria nets and nutritious food increases the likelihood of becoming ill, which in turn limits families' ability to spend money on preventative or curative care, creating a cycle that creates and perpetuates poverty traps. Lower-income countries are particularly likely to underspend on preventative care, reducing the health stock as well as the number of days available to participate in welfare-enhancing market and non-market activities (Wang, 2018).

#### 3.3.2 Transport, childcare and unpaid leave

Travel costs, and missed work, either because they or a child is unwell or seeking treatment, can place a huge burden on families even when healthcare itself is free (Wagner et al., 2010). Travel costs and food consumed while away from home made up more than 40% of the total economic cost of having malaria in Ethiopia; this does not include the greater time off work needed to travel and is despite treatment for this disease being much more decentralised than for other illnesses (Hailu et al., 2017). In a review of the costs of having tuberculosis (TB), the costs of travelling to a treatment centre were shown to be manageable in many lower-income settings but they made up 80% of the cost of having TB in Bangladesh and between 22% and 44% in Ethiopia, Tajikistan and Tanzania (Laurence et al., 2015). In most of these analyses, transportation costs are greater than either the costs of treatment or of missing work due to illness.

Spending time caring for a child or an adult with a disability can reduce the ability of caregivers to earn an income, particularly where they are not covered by regulations mandating paid leave in the case of sickness. Workers in the informal economy, who are typically more disadvantaged to begin with, are most likely to have to rely on unpaid leave to seek healthcare for themselves or others. In Bangladesh, estimates suggest that for every \$1.00 lost to the economy because PWD were unnecessarily excluded from the labour force, another \$0.26 was lost due to caregivers being unable to work (World Bank, 2008). Recent research finds significant productivity losses due to illness: time lost due to seeking treatment and being ill with TB was reported as 14 days in Malaysia, 60 days in Thailand and 81 days in Netherlands; in Haiti, people with active TB were assumed to be 50% disabled (that is, 50% productivity loss) from symptom onset to diagnosis, were unable to work while hospitalised, and then 50% disabled for the remainder of the first two months of treatment (Laurence et al., 2015).

## 3.4 Interactions between different constraining factors

Social, economic and physical barriers are individually constraining, but they can also interact in a way that multiplies disadvantage for left-behind groups, thereby worsening disparities in health outcomes. The literature on how constraints intersect for these groups is relatively sparse but nonetheless points to some important ways in which they can heighten exclusion from high-quality health services and result in poorer health outcomes, above and beyond the effects of each factor considered alone (Robinson and Ross, 2013; Lenhardt and Samman, 2015; Kabeer and Santos, 2017; Rao et al., 2019). For example, Marcellin et al. (2013) report that among non-Aboriginal transgender people of colour in Ontario, Canada, experiences of racism and transphobia interacted to increase the odds of engagement in high-risk sex (cited in Robinson and Ross, 2013: 93). Lenhardt and Samman (2015) show that not only do factors such as race or ethnicity, socioeconomic status and rural residence contribute to inequalities in child deaths across 16 LICs and MICs, but that each intersection of these characteristics also contributes to unequal outcomes. Rao et al. (2019) document evidence that being poor, living in a rural area and having limited education result in outcomes far worse than any of these characteristics considered independently.

Aspects of identity that we do not focus on here also matter: inequalities between cis men and cis women, age, socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity, among others, interact in important ways that affect vulnerable groups' options for accessing quality healthcare. Moreover, people who belong to more than one of the groups we consider (e.g. PWD in rural areas, or migrant sex workers) are not only subject to constraints particular to each situation, but also to the effects of these constraints compounding one another in deleterious ways. We look here at examples of how the constraints we explore may interact in a way that accentuates exclusion from health services.

Social and physical constraints can be mutually reinforcing. As previously outlined, transport issues pose a significant problem for PWD, and these issues are greatly exacerbated in rural areas. Lower population density also means that people are less likely to live in proximity to those with a similar disability, reducing social connections - which have been shown to increase knowledge sharing and reduce the loneliness and mental health problems that can be more likely with some disabilities (Hosain et al., 2002; Russell, 2009). Some evidence suggests that social attitudes towards PWD can be substantially worse in rural areas, exacerbating potential health issues (Groce and McGeown, 2017). Moreover, in rural areas, healthcare officials often come from or reside in the same locality as their patients, rendering confidentiality difficult to maintain. This poses an additional barrier to accessing healthcare, particularly for stigmatised groups such as PWD or sexual minorities.

Social constraints also intersect with economic constraints. Greater wealth allows people to be more socially and physically mobile, meaning they can more easily move to areas where integration is easier. Wealth also gives people a higher social status, which can make it less likely that they will be discriminated against for other differences. For these reasons, economic constraints tend to worsen adverse health outcomes for groups at risk of being left behind (Edberg et al., 2011; Oosterhoff et al., 2014). Stigma and discrimination can also increase income poverty: one reason that LIC and MIC households with a PWD are likely to have lower incomes is that prejudices and a failure to adapt working environments can make it significantly harder for a PWD to find and stay in work. Similarly, discrimination in education and employment depress the economic contribution of LGBT populations to their societies (Lee Badgett et al., 2019).

Economic and physical constraints tend to be correlated – e.g. with people living in rural areas being poorer than those in urban areas (World Bank, 2018). As previously discussed, both socioeconomic status and physical constraints have a significant impact on health outcomes - for example, poverty heightens the physical constraints posed by the need to travel longer distances to seek care in rural areas. WHO (2019b) provides comprehensive evidence showing that across 96 countries, on average, poor people have lower coverage for 'even for basic services such as immunisation, sanitation and antenatal care' and that coverage is typically lowest for people in the poorest quintile of households residing in rural areas. Other evidence points to country-specific effects. In Bolivia, rural households in the poorest quintile experienced twice the share of child deaths as the national average in 2008, while poor urban households experienced slightly more than the national average (Lenhardt and Samman, 2015). In Guinea, urban residents in the richest quintile experienced half the national average of child deaths while rural residents in the poorest quintile experienced 20% more child deaths than the national average (ibid.).

# 4 The cost of reaching at-risk groups

The previous section outlined three types of constraints that cause some populations to be left behind in accessing quality healthcare, by limiting the supply of health services for certain groups and/or their demand for healthcare, and looked at how these constraints can interact to intensify exclusions. As discussed, these exclusions have significant costs for societies and for the individuals concerned. To give one example, sexual minorities, transgender people and sex workers are more likely to contract a sexually transmitted disease owing to higher risk coupled with constraints on healthcare access; in the United States alone, the annual direct medical costs of sexually transmitted diseases are estimated at between \$14 million and \$23 million (Chesson et al., 2011, in Rinaldi et al., 2018).

We now consider how these constraints can be lifted. This is a broad, complex and contested issue. Some analysis has focused on the balance between investing in improving the socioeconomic circumstances of disadvantaged or marginalised groups that create a social gradient in health versus health-specific investments. Others are concerned with the optimal investment in health systems versus targeted programmes, and in preventative versus curative care. However, underlining all these debates is the clear need for greater investment in health services, notably in LICs and MICs. Greater investment will be particularly vital for at-risk populations as they are more likely both to need care and to be denied care where resources are limited.

In a companion piece, we identified a series of strategies that sought to extend UHC to left-behind groups, often involving targeted inclusion or eligibility, the expansion of health units focused on primary healthcare across underserved areas, the provision of health cards to targeted groups and the creation of a parallel insurance scheme for the uncovered (McDonnell et al., 2019). We found that government systems appeared to perform better than privately financed initiatives in reaching at-risk groups and that governments appear to focus on raising demand for services (e.g. by removing user fees) before making capital-intensive investments to increase service supply.

In this paper, we review specific health-based interventions targeted at at-risk groups, rather than answering the question of how to bring about UHC; the type of initiatives on which we focus could be important antecedents to, or may complement and/or build on, broader structural reforms. We aim to highlight the cost effectiveness of interventions aimed at left-behind groups given our interest in resource-scarce settings. Throughout our literature search, we struggled to find generalisable programme costs that we could use to assess the cost effectiveness of pursuing a leave no one behind agenda. Policy-makers often do not publicly state the cost of particular programmes and, when costing information does exist, it tends to be highly context specific. Where possible, we identify programmes that are likely to be cost effective in reducing constraints that inhibit at-risk groups from accessing quality care.

#### 4.1 Overcoming social constraints

#### 4.1.1 Reducing discrimination

As discussed in section 3.1, stigma constrains many at-risk groups from accessing healthcare, with far-reaching costs. For example, because MSM and sex workers are less likely to seek care, the less inclusive the environment they live in is, the harder it is to track the spread of illnesses throughout these communities (Davis et al., 2017). Overcoming discrimination would therefore greatly improve the quality of life of left-behind groups. However, changing social attitudes usually takes time, while top-down change often requires substantial political capital.

The impact of changes to laws upon stigma is cited widely in the literature. Governments should be made aware that when they develop legislation that criminalises same-sex relations or selling sex (as opposed to criminalising the buying of sex) or when they pass laws that discriminate against LGBT populations, they are making their citizens' health worse. Several cross-country analyses in Africa have found that HIV transmission rates are higher where there is a greater stigma around MSM (Mayer and Beyrer, 2007; Poteat et al., 2011; Beyrer et al., 2012). The reverse is also evident: in India, the 2009 High Court decision that decriminalised adult consensual same-sex activity resulted in increased acceptance of LGBT issues and a vast uptick in the provision of health services to this community (Zaman et al., 2016).

In Thailand, a review of and change to legislation that was reducing the uptake of health services by MSM and transgender persons cost the government about \$32,000 (Thailand National AIDS Committee, 2014),<sup>10</sup> equivalent to the cost of treating four people for HIV in South Africa for 12 years (South Africa is the country with the most similar income level for which data was available) (Tagar et al., 2014). More broadly, countries have shown a willingness to challenge discrimination and stigma in the wake of an epidemic. For example, many SSA countries have invested heavily in awareness campaigns to reduce the stigma around HIV, encourage testing and treatment, and improve reproductive health.

## 4.1.2 Providing services that are adapted to specific needs

A second area in which social constraints need to be overcome is in adapting services to meet the needs of excluded groups – which is particularly important for PWD, refugees and those who engage in higher-risk sexual activities.

As previously discussed, healthcare facilities are commonly not adapted to needs of PWD. This can be driven by inadequate attention to the requirement of these groups when infrastructure is designed and built, and is unfortunate not least because it is often less expensive to build physical accessibility into a health facility in advance than it is to retrofit buildings; whereas integrating accessibility into new buildings can amount to less than 1% of the cost, making adaptations to completed buildings can reach up to 20% of the original cost (UNICEF, 2013: 19). As well as improving access, healthcare systems need to employ more specialists who are versed in the specific needs of PWD (and to retrain existing staff to this end), improve referral systems and increase the availability of assistive technologies such as hearing aids and wheelchairs, which can greatly improve quality of life for PWD (WHO and World Bank, 2011; Banks and Polack, 2015; UNICEF and WHO, 2015).

Although refugee integration can pose challenges in low-income settings, notably where countries receive large number of arrivals in a relatively short period, it improves the health of new arrivals both by reducing isolation and by giving them better understanding of how to access health services (UNDP, 2009; Joshi et al., 2013). Programmes such as language classes, guides to local behaviour, and information on how to access services such as healthcare have all been shown to greatly improve integration. It is also important to improve attitudes towards refugees in host countries, as integration is very much a two-way process, and local hospitality is strongly linked to quicker and more cohesive integration (Strang and Ager, 2010). Many integration programmes are relatively inexpensive (UNDP, 2009).

Extensive evidence shows that well-designed mental health treatment for people in LICs and MICs need not be expensive to be highly effective. Several studies in India show a high return from lay councillor behavioural activation treatment (Buttorff et al., 2012;

<sup>10</sup> The revision of legislation over a two-year period was estimated at 1,057,700 THB (Thai baht), to which we applied the baht/USD exchange rate for December 2014 (32.9095).

Patel et al., 2017).<sup>11</sup> WHO has demonstrated more broadly that investment in mental health can offer excellent value for money. In a 2016 exercise they estimate that the average annual cost over 15 years of scaled-up investments to treat moderate to severe depression was \$0.08 per person in LICs, \$0.34 in LMICs, \$1.12 in UMICs and \$3.89 in HICs. The benefit to cost ratios were in the range of 2.3 to 2.6. The per person costs for treating anxiety disorders were nearly half that of depression, with returns in the range of 2.7 to 3.0 (Marguez and Walker, 2016). The evidence for high returns from investments in mental health in LICs and MICs is very strong, as is the evidence that illustrates the high mental healthcare needs of many refugees. However, literature focusing specifically on the cost effectiveness of providing mental health services to refugees in LICs and MICs is lacking.

Many countries have built specific outreach programmes for MSM, sex workers and others at high risk of contracting STDs. Because of stigma, it is not enough to supply treatment centres; instead, patients need to be convinced to come forward and use them, which means they must trust that their information will stay anonymous. Thailand offers a good example of how this can be done. Approximately 28% of MSM in Bangkok are HIV positive, as calculated by cohort studies sampling the city's estimated 185,000 MSM. An additional 32% are considered to be at high risk of contracting the infection, despite condom use of 82% (normally considered high). High HIV prevalence was driven by low testing rates, such that people did not realise they had become HIV positive. Although Bangkok offered adequate testing facilities, they were not being properly utilised (Zhang et al., 2015).

A follow-on pilot study created five walk-in test centres so that people did not have to wait to be treated and could be more confident in their anonymity. The researchers trained staff to provide better preventative advice and, most importantly, recruited MSM and transgender women (the two most at-risk groups in Bangkok) to share among their peers messages about the importance of being tested. This programme particularly the recruitment drive - was hugely successful. While the authors do not cost the overall programme, most of the activities they describe appear to be very low cost; the most expensive seems to be giving people \$3 for every friend they brought to the clinic (Ongwandee et al., 2018). Similar outreach programmes have been adopted as part of Thailand's National **Operational Plan Accelerating Ending AIDS** 2015–2019. Within this plan, an ambitious outreach programme accounts for less than 5% of the total HIV treatment budget, which appears to be good value for money as it has led to much greater use of HIV testing facilities (Thailand National AIDS Committee, 2014).

Evidence from multiple HICs, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, India, Kenya, Thailand and Zimbabwe suggest that providing HIV prevention programmes for sex workers is highly cost effective. However, these programmes tend to be funded by donors rather than local governments, highlighting the pervasiveness of societal discrimination and/or the deprioritisation of the needs of left-behind minority groups. The lack of local buy-in can in turn lead to the inconsistent rollout of programmes and low coverage rates, which can render them far less effective. Many programmes also suffer from insufficiently guided epidemic transmission models (Wilson, 2015).

## 4.2 Overcoming physical constraints

#### 4.2.1 Improving physical proximity

The only way to lower the distance between people and health facilities is to build health systems at a more localised level, so that they are closer to the people who need them. However, doing so risks exacerbating the problems of human capital and supply chains that also hold back rural healthcare, as previously

<sup>11</sup> Often depression or anxiety render people less likely to engage in activities that give them enjoyment or improve their mental health, such as socialising, exercising or working towards purposeful projects. This can generate a negative feedback loop, exacerbating their health problems. Behavioural activation treatment aims to break this cycle in a short amount of time and re-introduce positive behaviour.

discussed. A second approach to bolster access to healthcare is to improve the local road infrastructure so that travel times are reduced. While the evidence suggests this approach yields benefits in health and other areas, road building is expensive and beyond the control of health policy-makers (O'Donnell, 2007).

Better ambulance services are often a costeffective way to reach patients and in many LICs they can be provided in addition to existing voluntary first-responder systems (Nielsen et al., 2012). A Malawian motorcycle ambulance system reduced median referral delays by between 2 and 4.5 hours, or approximately half, at a cost of \$508 a year – 24 times cheaper than a conventional ambulance (Hofman et al., 2008).

Finally, innovations in digital health technology have the potential to improve the ability of poor people living in underserved areas to access healthcare including through telemedicine and the use of drones to deliver needed supplies (Rao et al., 2019: 144; Box 5).

#### 4.2.2 Supply chain management

Supply chains can be improved in rural areas by building in better stock tracking systems. Several studies in Tanzania have shown that this can be cheap and effective, often simply requiring a mobile phone and basic training for health workers (Barrington et al., 2010; Nilseng et al., 2014).

#### 4.2.3 Improving human capital

As discussed, improvements to the quality and attendance of health workers in rural hospitals are needed. To increase the number of health professionals willing to work in these areas, some healthcare systems have provided financial incentives for workers to move to areas of highest need. This needs to be carefully managed: the Philippines rolled out such a system but because the money for salaries came from local government, they often struggled to fund the post. Canada instead funded this type of programme by reducing salaries in areas with an oversupply of people who wanted to be doctors (Wilson et al., 2009). An additional difficulty holding back rural health workers is the lack of opportunity for peer learning, because they are in more isolated environments. Rwanda has worked

## Box 5 Using drones to reduce physical barriers to health supplies

In Rwanda in 2016, American start-up Zipline partnered with the Rwandan government to launch the world's first commercial drone delivery service to carry blood, rabies vaccines and antivenom over long distances where hilly supply routes are difficult to navigate. Whereas trips from the capital to more remote areas of the country take hours by car, a drone can make the same trip in minutes. As of March 2020, around 75% of blood deliveries outside Kigali relied on Zipline drones. In May of 2019, the company moved into Ghana, and as of March 2020, it reached 2,000 hospitals, covering 12 million people. It was planning to launch its service in India and in the United States, in North Carolina, later in 2020.

Sources: Ackerman and Kosiol et al. (2019); Farley (2020)

to overcome this by piloting a mentoring scheme for rural nurses, which has shown significant improvement in several quality-of-care indicators (Anatole et al., 2013). Finally, some countries have begun using mobile-phone-based systems to track the attendance of health workers. In an example in India, pilot biometric scanners have been fitted to mobile phones so that teachers and healthcare workers have to clock in every day in a way that is measurable (Reda et al., 2011). Research has shown that electronic measurement of attendance coupled with incentives for attendance appears to be the optimal way of ensuring their presence (Guerrero et al., 2012).

## 4.3 Overcoming economic constraints

As outlined, poverty prevents more than half the world's population from accessing a basic package of preventative and curative care advocated by the World Health Organization. Two types of policy are needed to improve the health of those with limited means: policies that prevent illness and those that reduce the costs of illness by improving access to treatment and reducing the opportunity costs of being sick and requiring unpaid care.

Select examples demonstrate the potential of low-cost interventions to benefit poor households by reducing the likelihood of illness. For example, in a randomised control trial in Pakistan, researchers gave poor households free soap and encouraged greater handwashing. Compared with a control group, illness among children in the treatment group was reduced by 50% for pneumonia, 53% for diarrhoea and 34% for impetigo (Luby et al., 2005). If such declines in the infection rate for these illnesses were replicated worldwide, this could cut global infant mortality by more than 1 million deaths every year. It is harder to run randomised control trials on clean water and access to sanitation, as these can be more easily shared by different people in a community, but the evidence suggests similar benefits (Hall et al., 2018).

Targeted policies to reduce the costs of health treatment include various types of subsidies or fee exemptions that reduce health costs and/ or cash transfers that may be made conditional on service utilisation (or alternatively, accompanied by messaging advocating such utilisation). In Africa, user fee exemptions for poorer household have been 'rare and generally ineffective in protecting the poorest' (Leighton and Diop, 1995; Ridde, 2008, in Ridde and Morestin, 2010), whereas generalised user fee removals have bolstered access to healthcare, though cost-benefit analysis tends to be lacking (Ridde and Morestin, 2010). Providing economic support to cover the specific needs of at-risk groups such as assistive technologies for PWD can be cost effective - for example, a study in Sweden found that the cost of providing assistive technology to a student with cognitive impairments was recovered if he or she avoided a one-month delay in entering the job market (SIAT, 2013, in WHO and UNICEF, 2015). It is worth noting that while providing services to marginalised groups may be relatively more expensive, it may yield higher returns: Carrera et al. (2017) argue that selected health and nutrition interventions in poor areas saved 1.8 times as many lives as equivalent investments in non-poor areas.

These policies should go alongside policies aiming transport costs - particularly for PWD and those in rural areas, and should also extend to other barriers such as the need for childcare. For example, the literature points to several initiatives that have sought to lower the price of travel for healthcare, as in Northern Nigeria and Sierra Leone where policy-makers have issued travel vouchers or interest-free loans to this end. The evidence suggests that, as a result of these measures, emergency referrals and overall care have increased (Essien et al., 1997; Samai and Sengeh, 1997; O'Donnell, 2007). In Southeast Asia, several countries have extended health subsidies and insurance to cover transport costs (Tangcharoensathien et al., 2011).

## **5 Conclusion**

Billions of people across the world cannot access adequate health coverage. This paper has provided a selective review of issues affecting access to health for five groups that are exposed to distinct health risks and yet are likely to have less access to quality health services owing to aspects of their identity (being a sexual minority, a transgender person, having a disability or impairment), experience (displacement, sex work) and location (living in a rural area). Although the focus of this paper is on targeted interventions, we have sought to stress that such interventions should not detract from the need for greater investments in health systems (and indeed, in improving the socioeconomic circumstances of disadvantaged and marginalised groups that bring about poorer health outcomes). However, we argue that to leave no one behind, policy-makers should explore the role of targeted policy to precede, complement and/or follow reforms aiming at building or maintaining UHC, in order to ensure that at-risk groups fully benefit from these broader structural reforms.

The reasons for why so many people cannot get the care they need tend to be complex and context specific. However, we have identified underlying social, physical and economic constraints, and ways in which these interact with one another in ways that can magnify exclusions. Although the literature is very limited, we describe selected targeted health interventions that seek to increase demand for health services among at-risk groups and their supply. Not only are there cost-effective approaches to bolster healthcare access, but in some cases, the economic returns are substantial, particularly when accounting for indirect costs of illness such as the opportunity cost of caregivers' time. Where relevant, countries could seek to adapt, replicate and scale up these examples of good practice.

Our review has been selective in part because the evidence is much stronger in some areas

than in others. We urge greater research into the specific needs of at-risk groups and policy responses as a first step to respond to subnational health disparities. We conclude by highlighting the following core evidence gaps:

## • The identification of at-risk populations and their health needs

The identification of at-risk populations is challenging in contexts where group identity is derived from stigmatised characteristics (e.g. having a disability) or indeed, illegal (e.g. related to participation in sex work, belonging to a sexual minority, being transgender and/or being an undocumented migrant). There is a need to understand better the size, distribution and the health needs of diverse groups in a way that does not subject persecuted groups to additional risk. The gaps in knowledge concerning the number of people belonging to at-risk groups and their distribution within countries are magnified when considering the overlap among characteristics associated with health disparities. For example, evidence from lower-income settings is scant on the share of PWD belonging to a sexual minority or who are transgender, and the share of sex workers who are refugees or undocumented migrants.

## • The constraints that different at-risk populations face

More evidence is available on the social and physical barriers at-risk groups face, because these constraints can be gleaned through analysis of legal and societal institutions. The analysis of economic constraints is necessarily anchored in microdata on the economic circumstances and health needs of particular communities. Here, substantial evidence illustrates the constraints that people in rural areas and PWD face, but there is far less relating to sex workers (particularly those who are cis male and transgender), sexual minorities and transgender populations and refugees/undocumented migrants. The evidence on how interactions of constraints worsens outcomes for the populations we consider is also sparce.

## • The cost-effectiveness of targeted interventions

Little information is available regarding the generalisable programme costs of targeted interventions focused on bolstering healthcare access. Policy-makers often do not provide costing information on specific programmes and where this does exist, it tends to be highly context specific. Moreover, data is lacking on the costs and returns of interventions targeted at particular groups. For instance, while studies stress the cost effectiveness of mental health interventions in LICs and MICs, we did not uncover any evidence on the cost-effectiveness of providing mental health services to refugees in these contexts.

### **References**

- Abubakar, I., Aldridge, R.W, Devakumar, D. et al. (2018) 'The UCL-Lancet Commission on Migration and Health: the health of a world on the move' *Lancet* 392(10164): 2606–2654 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32114-7).
- Ackerman, E. and Koziol, M. (2019) 'The blood is here: Zipline's medical delivery drones are changing the game in Rwanda' *Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Spectrum* 56(5): 24–31.
- Amiresmaili, M. and Emrani, Z. (2019) 'Investigating the exposure of Iranian households to catastrophic health expenditure due to the need to purchase medicines' *PLOS ONE* 14(4): e0214783 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214783).
- Anatole, M., Magge, H., Redditt, V. et al. (2013) 'Nurse mentorship to improve the quality of healthcare delivery in rural Rwanda' *Nursing Outlook* 61(3): 137–144 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2012.10.003).
- Avert (2018) 'Funding for HIV and AIDS' Avert website, 24 May (www.avert.org/professionals/hivaround-world/global-response/funding#How%20could%20funding%20be%20spent%20more%20 effectively?).
- Awofeso, N. (2011) 'Improving health workforce recruitment and retention in rural and remote regions of Nigeria' *International Electronic Journal of Rural and Remote Health Research* 10(1).
- Balfour, R. and Allen, J. (2014) *A review of the literature on sex workers and social exclusion*. London: UCL Institute of Health Equity.
- Banerjee, A., Deaton, A. and Duflo, E. (2004) 'Wealth, health, and health services in rural Rajasthan' *American Economic Review* 94(2): 326–330 (https://doi.org/10.1257/0002828041301902).
- Banks, L.M. and Polack, S. (2015) *The economic costs of exclusion and gains of inclusion of people with disabilities: evidence from low and middle income countries*. London: CBM (www.cbm.org/ fileadmin/user\_upload/Publications/Costs-of-Exclusion-and-Gains-of-Inclusion-Report.pdf).
- Banks, L.M., Kuper, H. and Polack, S. (2017) 'Poverty and disability in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review' *PLOS ONE* 12(12): e0189996 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0189996).
- Baral, S., Trapence, G., Motimedi, F. et al. (2009) 'HIV prevalence, risks for HIV infection, and human rights among men who have sex with men (MSM) in Malawi, Namibia, and Botswana' *PLOS ONE* 4(3): e4997 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004997).
- Baral, S., Beyrer, C., Muessig, K. et al. (2012) 'Burden of HIV among female sex workers in lowincome and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis' *Lancet Infectious Diseases* 12(7): 538–549 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70066-X).
- Baral, S., Turner, R.M., Lyons, C.E. et al. (2018) 'Population size estimation of gay and bisexual men and other men who have sex with men using social media-based platforms' *JMIR Public Health and Surveillance* 4(1): e15 (https://doi.org/10.2196/publichealth.9321).
- Barrington, J., Wereko-Brobby, O., Ward, P. et al. (2010) 'SMS for life: a pilot project to improve antimalarial drug supply management in rural Tanzania using standard technology' *Malaria Journal* 9(1): 298 (https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-9-298).
- Belita, A., Mbindyo, P. and English, M. (2013) 'Absenteeism amongst health workers developing a typology to support empiric work in low-income countries and characterizing reported associations' *Human Resources for Health* 11(1): 34 (https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-4491-11-34).
- Beyrer, C., Baral, S., van Griensven, F. et al. (2012) 'Global epidemiology of HIV infection in men who have sex with men' *Lancet*: 367–377 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60821-6).
- Bezemer, D. and Headey, D. (2008) 'Agriculture, development, and urban bias' World Development 36(8): 1342–1364 (https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WORLDDEV.2007.07.001).

- Bohren, M.A., Hunter, E.C., Munthe-Kaas, H. et al. (2014) 'Facilitators and barriers to facility-based delivery in low- and middle-income countries: a qualitative evidence synthesis' *Reproductive Health* 11(71) (https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-11-71).
- Borg J., Ostergren, P.O., Larsson, S. et al. (2012), 'Assistive technology use is associated with reduced capability poverty: a cross-sectional study in Bangladesh' *Disability & Rehabilitation Assistive Technology* 7(2): 112–121.
- Brand, N.R., Qu, L.G., Chao, A. and Ilbawi, A.M. (2019), 'Delays and barriers to cancer care in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review' *Oncologist* 24(12): e1372–e1380 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6975966/pdf/onco13028.pdf).
- Bright, T. and Kuper, H. (2018) 'A systematic review of access to general healthcare services for people with disabilities in low and middle income countries' *International Journal Of Environmental Research and Public Health* 15(9) (https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15091879).
- Budhathoki, S.S., Zwanikken, P.A.C., Pokharel, P.K. and Scherpbier, A.J. (2017) 'Factors influencing medical students' motivation to practise in rural areas in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review' *BMJ Open* 7(2): e013501 (https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013501).
- Buttorff, C., Hock, R.S., Weiss, H.A. et al. (2012) 'Economic evaluation of a task-shifting intervention for common mental disorders in India' *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 90(11): 813–821 (https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.12.104133).
- Carew, M.T., Braathen, S.H., Swartz, L. et al. (2017) 'The sexual lives of people with disabilities within low- and middle-income countries: a scoping study of studies published in English' *Global Health Action* 10(1): 1337342 (https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1337342).
- Carrera, C., Begkoyian, G., Sharif, S. et al. (2017) *Narrowing the gaps: the power of investing in the poorest children*. New York: United Nations Children's Fund.
- Chaudhury, N., Hammer, J., Kremer, M. et al. (2006) 'Missing in action: teacher and health worker absence in developing countries' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 20(1): 91–116 (https://doi.org/ 10.1257/089533006776526058).
- Chow, C.K., Teo, K.K., Rangarajan, S. et al. (2013) 'Prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension in rural and urban communities in high-, middle-, and low-income countries' *JAMA* 310(9): 959 (https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.184182).
- Cleopatra, I. and Eunice, K. (2018) 'Household catastrophic health expenditure: evidence from Nigeria' *Microeconomics and Macroeconomics* 6(1): 1–8.
- Davis, S.L., Goedel, W.C., Emerson, J. and Skartvedt Guven, B. (2017) 'Punitive laws, key population size estimates, and Global AIDS Response Progress Reports: an ecological study of 154 countries' *Journal of the International AIDS Society* 20(1): 21386 (https://doi.org/10.7448/IAS.20.1.21386).
- Deering, K.N., Amin, A., Shoveller, J. et al. (2014) 'A systematic review of the correlates of violence against sex workers' *American Journal of Public Health* 104(5): e42–e54 (https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.301909).
- Dowling, P. (2011) *Healthcare supply chains in developing countries: situational analysis*. Arlington VA: United States Agency for International Development (https://peoplethatdeliver.org/ptd/sites/ default/files/resource\_contents\_files/Healthcare Supply Chains Situation Analysis EN.pdf).
- DSPD Division for Social Policy and Development (2016) *Toolkit on disability for Africa: culture, beliefs and disability*. New York: DSPD and United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (www.un.org/esa/socdev/documents/disability/Toolkit/Cultures-Beliefs-Disability.pdf).
- Edberg, M., Cleary, S. and Vyas, A. (2011) 'A trajectory model for understanding and assessing health disparities in immigrant/refugee communities' *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health* 13(3): 576–584 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-010-9337-5).
- Essien, E., Ifenne, S., Sabitu, K. et al. (1997) 'Community loan funds and transport services for obstetric emergencies in northern Nigeria' *International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics* 59(suppl. 2): S237–S244 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-7292(97)00171-9).

- Farley, A. (2020) 'Zipline mastered medical drone delivery in Africa now it's coming to the U.S.' FastCompany, 10 March (www.fastcompany.com/90457727/zipline-most-innovativecompanies-2020).
- Farley, M., Cotton, A., Lynne, J. et al. (2008) 'Prostitution and trafficking in nine countries: An update on violence and posttraumatic stress disorder' *Journal of Trauma Practice* 2(3–4): 33–74 (https://doi.org/10.1300/J189v02n03\_03).
- Finneran, C., Chard, A., Sineath, C. et al. (2012) 'Intimate partner violence and social pressure among gay men in six countries' *The Western Journal of Emergency Medicine* 13(3): 260–271 (https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2012.3.11779).
- Glick, S.N., Morris, M., Foxman, B. et al. (2012) 'A comparison of sexual behavior patterns among men who have sex with men and heterosexual men and women' *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes* 60(1): 83–90 (https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.0b013e318247925e).
- Goldmann, C. (2013) *Current assessment of the state of prostitution: recognize, understand, and fight sexual exploitation*, 3rd edn. Paris: Fondation Scelles (www.fondationscelles.org/pdf/current-assessment-of-the-state-of-prostitution-2013.pdf).
- Gray, A. and Budgell, E.P. (2011) 'Health and related indicators' in A. Padarath and R. English (eds) *South African Health Review 2011*. Durban: Health Systems Trust (www.hst.org.za/publications/ South%20African%20Health%20Reviews/sahr\_2011.pdf).
- Groce, N. and McGeown, J. (2017) *Witchcraft, wealth and disability: reinterpretation of a folk belief in contemporary urban Africa*. Leonard Cheshire Disability and Inclusive Development Centre Working Paper No. 30. London: University College London.
- Guerrero, G., Leon, J., Zapata, M. et al. (2012) What works to improve teacher attendance in developing countries? A systematic review. London: EPPICentre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.
- Hailu, A., Lindtjørn, B., Deressa, W. et al. (2017) 'Economic burden of malaria and predictors of cost variability to rural households in south-central Ethiopia' *PLOS ONE* 12(10): e0185315 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0185315).
- Hall, W., McDonnell, A. and O'Neill, J. (2018) *Superbugs: an arms race against bacteria*. Boston MA: Harvard University Press.
- Hofman, J.J., Dzimadzi, C., Lungu, K. et al. (2008) 'Motorcycle ambulances for referral of obstetric emergencies in rural Malawi: do they reduce delay and what do they cost?' *International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics* 102(2): 191–197 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2008.04.001).
- Hosain, G.M.M., Atkinson, D. and Underwood, P. (2002) 'Impact of disability on quality of life of rural disabled people in Bangladesh' *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition*: 297–305 (https://doi.org/10.2307/23498917).
- International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA): Lucas Ramón Mendos (2019) *State-sponsored homophobia 2019*, 13th edn. Geneva: ILGA (https://ilga.org/downloads/ILGA\_State\_Sponsored\_Homophobia\_2019.pdf).
- Johnston, L.G., Holman, A., Dahoma, M. et al. (2010) 'HIV risk and the overlap of injecting drug use and high-risk sexual behaviours among men who have sex with men in Zanzibar (Unguja), Tanzania' *International Journal of Drug Policy* 21(6): 485–492 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.drugpo.2010.06.001).
- Joseph, G., da Silva, I.C.M., Barros, A.J.D. and Victora, C.G. (2018) 'Socioeconomic inequalities in access to skilled birth attendance among urban and rural women in low-income and middle-income countries' *BMJ Global Health* 3(6): e000898 (https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000898).
- Joshi, C., Russell, G., Cheng, I.-H. et al. (2013) 'A narrative synthesis of the impact of primary healthcare delivery models for refugees in resettlement countries on access, quality and coordination' *International Journal for Equity in Health* 12(88) (https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1475-9276-12-88).

- Kabeer, N. and Santos, R. (2017) *Intersecting inequalities and the sustainable development goals: insights from Brazil.* Working Paper No. 14. London: International Inequalities Institute, London School of Economics and Political Science.
- Kaiser Family Foundation (2020) 'Health coverage of immigrants' (www.kff.org/disparities-policy/ fact-sheet/health-coverage-of-immigrants/).
- Kapitan, A. (n.d.) *The radical copyeditor's style guide for writing about transgender People* (https://radicalcopyeditor.com/2017/08/31/transgender-style-guide/amp/).
- Kironji, A.G., Hodkinson, P., Stewart de Ramirez, S. et al. (2018) 'Identifying barriers for out of hospital emergency care in low and low-middle income countries: a systematic review' *BMC Health Services Research* 18(1): 291 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3091-0).
- Klasen, S. and Fleurbaey, M. (2018) *Leaving no one behind: some conceptual and empirical issues*. CDP Background Paper No. 44 ST/ESA/2018/CDP/44. New York: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN DESA) (www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/wpcontent/uploads/sites/45/publication/CDP\_BP44\_June\_2018.pdf).
- Knaul, F.M., Wong, R., Arreola-Ornelas, H. et al. (2011) 'Household catastrophic health expenditures: a comparative analysis of twelve Latin American and Caribbean Countries' *Salud Pública de México* 53: s85–s95 (www.scielosp.org/pdf/spm/2011.v53suppl2/s85-s95/en).
- Kolodny, L. (2019) 'Zipline, which delivers lifesaving medical supplies by drone, now valued at \$1.2 billion'. cnbc.com, 17 May (www.cnbc.com/2019/05/17/zipline-medical-delivery-drone-start-up-now-valued-at-1point2-billion.html).
- Kruk, M.E., Gage, A.D., Arsenault, C. et al. (2018) 'High-quality health systems in the Sustainable Development Goals era: time for a revolution' *Lancet Global Health* 6(11): e1196–e1252.
- Lankowski, A.J., Siedner, M.J., Bangsberg, D.R. and Tsai, A.C. (2014) 'Impact of geographic and transportation-related barriers on HIV outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review' *AIDS and Behavior* 18(7): 1199–1223 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-014-0729-8).
- Laurence, Y.V., Griffiths, U.K. and Vassall, A. (2015) 'Costs to health services and the patient of treating tuberculosis: a systematic literature review' *PharmacoEconomics* 33(9): 939–955 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s40273-015-0279-6).
- Lee Badgett, M.V. (2014) *The economic cost of homophobia and the exclusion of LGBT people: a case study of India.* Washington DC: World Bank.
- Lee Badgett, M.V., Lau, H., Sears, B. and Ho, D. (2009) 'Bias in the workplace: consistent evidence of sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination 1998–2008' *Chicago-Kent Law Review* 84: 559.
- Lee Badgett, M.V., Hasenbush, A. and Ekaprasetia Luhur, W. (2017) *LGBT exclusion in Indonesia and its economic effects*. Los Angeles: The Williams Institute, UCLA School of Law (https:// williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/LGBT-Exclusion-in-Indonesia-and-Its-Economic-Effects-March-2017.pdf).
- Lee Badgett, M.V., Waaldijk, K. and van der Meulen Rodgers, Y. (2019) 'The relationship between LGBT inclusion and economic development: macro-level evidence' *World Development* 120: 1–14.
- Lenhardt, A. and Samman, E. (2015) *In quest of inclusive progress: exploring the intersecting inequalities in human development*. ODI Research Report. London: Overseas Development Institute.
- Lipton, M. (1977) Why poor people stay poor: urban bias in world development. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press (www.popline.org/node/497105).
- Lorway, R., Thompson, L.H., Lazarus, L. et al. (2014) 'Going beyond the clinic: confronting stigma and discrimination among men who have sex with men in Mysore through community-based participatory research' *Critical Public Health* 24(1): 73–87 (https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09581596.2013.791386).

- Luby, S.P., Agboatwalla, M., Feikin, D.R. et al. (2005) 'Effect of handwashing on child health: a randomised controlled trial' *Lancet* 366(9481): 225–233 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66912-7).
- Majumdar, S., Mani, A. and Mukand, S.W. (2004) 'Politics, information and the urban bias' *Journal of Development Economics* 75: 137–165 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2003.08.003).
- Marquez, P.V. and Walker, M. (2016) 'Mental health services in situations of conflict, fragility and violence: what to do?' World Bank Blogs, 1 November. Washington DC: World Bank (https://blogs. worldbank.org/health/mental-health-services-situations-conflict-fragility-and-violence-what-do).
- Mayer, K.H. and Beyrer, C. (2007) 'HIV epidemiology update and transmission factors: risks and risk contexts 16th International AIDS Conference Epidemiology Plenary' *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 44(7): 981–987 (https://doi.org/10.1086/512371).
- McDonnell, A., Urrutia, A.F. and Samman, E. (2019) *Reaching universal health coverage: a political economy review of trends across 49 countries*. ODI Working Paper 570. London: Overseas Development Institute.
- Meuter, R.F., Gallois, C., Segalowitz, N.S. et al. (2015) 'Overcoming language barriers in healthcare: a protocol for investigating safe and effective communication when patients or clinicians use a second language' *BMC health services research* 15(1): 371 (https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12913-015-1024-8I).
- Mitra, S. (2018) Disability, health and human development. New York: Palgrave Macmillan US.
- NASEM National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2018) *Crossing the global quality chasm: improving healthcare worldwide*. Washington DC: National Academies Press.
- Nielsen, K., Mock, C., Joshipura, M. et al. (2012) 'Assessment of the status of prehospital care in 13 low- and middle-income countries' *Prehospital Emergency Care* 16(3): 381–389 (https://doi.org/ 10.3109/10903127.2012.664245).
- Nilseng, J., Gustafsson, L.L., Nungu, A. et al. (2014) 'A cross-sectional pilot study assessing needs and attitudes to implementation of information and communication technology for rational use of medicines among healthcare staff in rural Tanzania' *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making* 14(1): 78 (https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-14-78).
- O'Donnell, O. (2007) 'Access to healthcare in developing countries: breaking down demand side barriers' *SciELO Public Health* 23(12).
- O'Keefe, P. (2007) *People with disabilities in India: from possibilities to outcomes*. Human Development Unit South Asia Region Working Paper No. 41585. Washington DC: World Bank (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/358151468268839622/pdf/415850IN0Disab1ort0NOV200701PUBLIC1.pdf).
- Ongwandee, S., Lertpiriyasuwat, C., Khawcharoenporn, T. et al. (2018) 'Implementation of a test, treat, and prevent HIV program among men who have sex with men and transgender women in Thailand, 2015-2016' *PLOS ONE* (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201171).
- Oosterhoff, P., Waldman, L. and Olerenshaw, D. (2014) *Literature review on sexuality and poverty*. Evidence Report No. 55. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies (www.ids.ac.uk/publications/ literature-review-on-sexuality-and-poverty/).
- Pandey, A., Ploubidis, G.B., Clarke, L. and Dandona, L. (2018) 'Trends in catastrophic health expenditure in India: 1993 to 2014' *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 96(1): 18–28 (www. who.int/bulletin/volumes/96/1/17-191759.pdf).
- Patel, P., Borkowf, C.B., Brooks, J.T. et al. (2014) 'Estimating per-act HIV transmission risk: a systematic review' *AIDS* 28(10): 1509–1519 (https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0000000000298).
- Patel, V., Weobong, B., Weiss, H.A. et al. (2017) 'The Healthy Activity Program (HAP), a lay counsellor-delivered brief psychological treatment for severe depression, in primary care in India: a randomised controlled trial' *Lancet* 389(10065): 176–185 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(16)31589-6).

- Penfold, S., Shamba, D., Hanson, C. et al. (2013) 'Staff experiences of providing maternity services in rural southern Tanzania a focus on equipment, drug and supply issues' *BMC Health Services Research* 13(61) (https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-61).
- PICUM Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants (2017) *Cities of rights: enduring healthcare for undocumented residents.* Brussels: PICUM.
- Planned Parenthood (2020) 'How effective are condoms?' (www.plannedparenthood.org/learn/ birth-control/condom/how-effective-are-condoms).
- Platt, L., Grenfell, P., Meiksin, R. et al. (2018) 'Associations between sex work laws and sex workers' health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of quantitative and qualitative studies' *PLOS Med* 15(12): e1002680 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002680).
- Poteat, T., Diouf, D., Drame, F.M. et al. (2011) 'HIV risk among MSM in Senegal: a qualitative rapid assessment of the impact of enforcing laws that criminalize same sex practices' *PLOS ONE* 6(12) (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028760).
- Rao, K.D., Makimoto, S., Peters, M. et al. (2019) 'Vulnerable populations and universal health coverage', in H. Kharas, J.W. McArthur and I. Ohno (eds) *Leave no one behind: time for specifics on the Sustainable Development Goals*. Washington DC: Brookings Institution (www.brookings. edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/LNOB\_Chapter7.pdf).
- Raykar, N.P., Yorlets, R.R., Liu, C. et al. (2015) 'A qualitative study exploring contextual challenges to surgical care provision in 21 LMICs' *Lancet* 385: S15 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60810-8).
- Reda, A., Panjwani, S. and Cutrell, E. (2011) 'Hyke: a low-cost remote attendance tracking system for developing regions' in *Proceedings of the 5th ACM workshop on Networked systems for developing regions* (https://doi.org/10.1145/1999927.1999933).
- Reisner, S.L., Poteat, T., Keatley, J. et al. (2016) 'Global health burden and needs of transgender populations: a review' *The Lancet* 388(10042): 412–436 (www.corevih-bretagne.fr/ckfinder/userfiles/files/Congr%C3%A8s/IAS\_2017\_Paris/Baral-Transgenres\_Lancet2016.pdf).
- Rekart, M.L. (2015) 'Caring for sex workers' BMJ 351: h4011 (https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h4011).
- Ridde, V. and Morestin, F. (2011) 'A scoping review of the literature on the abolition of user fees in health care services in Africa' *Health Policy and Planning* 26(1): 1–11.
- Robinson, M. and Ross, L.E. (2013) 'Gender and sexual minorities: intersecting inequalities and health' *Ethnicity and Inequalities in Health and Social Care* 6(4): 91–96.
- Rodríguez-Pose, A. and Hardy, D. (2015) 'Addressing poverty and inequality in the rural economy from a global perspective' *Applied Geography* 61: 11–23 (https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APGEOG.2015.02.005).
- Rössler, W., Koch, U., Lauber, C. et al. (2010) 'The mental health of female sex workers' *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 122(2): 143–152 (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2009.01533.x).
- Russell, D. (2009) 'Living arrangements, social integration, and loneliness in later life: the case of physical disability' *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 50(4): 460–475 (https://doi.org/ 10.1177/00221465090500040).
- Safren, S.A., Martin, C., Menon, S. et al. (2006) 'A survey of MSM HIV prevention outreach workers in Chennai, India' *AIDS Education and Prevention* 18(4): 323–332.
- Saksena, P., Xu, K. and Durairaj, V. (2010) The drivers of catastrophic expenditure: outpatient services, hospitalization or medicines. Background Paper No. 21 for the 2010 World Health Report. Geneva: World Health Organization (www.who.int/healthsystems/topics/financing/healthreport/21whr-bp.pdf).
- Samai, O. and Sengeh, P. (1997) 'Facilitating emergency obstetric care through transportation and communication, Bo, Sierra Leone. The Bo PMM Team' *International Journal of Gynaecology* & Obstetrics 59(suppl. 2): S157–S164 (www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0020729297001616).

Samelius, L. and Wagberg, E. (2005) A study of policy and administration sexual orientation and gender identity issues in development content. Stockholm: Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (https://tandis.odihr.pl/bitstream/20.500.12389/19549/1/02220.pdf).

- Samman, E. (2020) Toward universal health systems in the Covid-19 era: opportunities and threats. Emerging ideas and analysis. ODI Report. London: Overseas Development Institute.
- Samman, E., Lucci, P., Hagen-Zanker, J. et al. (2018) SDG progress: fragility, crisis and leaving no one behind. ODI Report. London: Overseas Development Institute.
- Sandfort, T., Somjen Frazer, M., Matebeni, Z. et al. (2015) 'Histories of forced sex and health outcomes among Southern African lesbian and bisexual women: a cross-sectional study' *BMC Women's Health* 15(22) (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-015-0181-6).
- Sawicki, D.A., Meffert, B.N., Read, K. and Heinz, A.J. (2019) 'Culturally competent health care for sex workers: an examination of myths that stigmatize sex work and hinder access to care' *Sexual and Relationship Therapy* 34(3): 355–371 (www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/14681994.2019.157 4970).
- Scheil-Adlung, X. (2015) *Global evidence on inequities in rural health protection. New data on rural deficits in health coverage for 174 countries.* Geneva: International Labour Organization (www.ilo. org/publns).
- Schneebaum, A. and Lee Badgett, M.V. (2019) 'Poverty in US lesbian and gay couple households' *Feminist Economics* 25(1): 1–30.
- Schwartz, S.R., Nowak, R.G., Orazulike, I. et al. (2015) 'The immediate effect of the Same-Sex Marriage Prohibition Act on stigma, discrimination, and engagement on HIV prevention and treatment services in men who have sex with men in Nigeria: analysis of prospective data from the TRUST cohort' *Lancet* HIV 2(7): e299–e306 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(15)00078-8).
- Scorgie, F., Chersich, M.F., Ntaganira, I. et al. (2012) 'Socio-demographic characteristics and behavioral risk factors of female sex workers in sub-saharan Africa: a systematic review' AIDS and Behavior 16(4): 920–933.
- Sijbrandij, M.C., Acarturk, M., Bird, R.A. et al. (2017) 'Strengthening mental healthcare systems for Syrian refugees in Europe and the Middle East: integrating scalable psychological interventions in 8 countries' *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* 8(2): 1388102 (https://doi.org/10.1080/200081 98.2017.1388102).
- Siqueira, F.C.V., Facchini, L.A., da Silveira, D.S. et al. (2009) 'Architectonic barriers for elderly and physically disabled people: an epidemiological study of the physical structure of health service units in seven Brazilian states' *Ciencia & Saude* Coletiva 14(1): 39–44.
- SOGI Task Force and Koehler, D. (2015) 'LGBTI people are (likely) over represented in the bottom 40%'. World Bank Blogs, 3 August (http://blogs.worldbank.org/governance/lgbti-people-are-likely-over-represented-bottom-40).
- Stockman, J.K. and Strathdee, S.A. (2010) 'HIV among people who use drugs: a global perspective of populations at risk' *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes* 55(Suppl. 1), December, S17–S22.
- Stephane Tajick Consulting (2018) The 2018 STC health index (http://globalresidenceindex.com/ hnwi-index/health-index).
- Strang, A. and Ager, A. (2010) 'Refugee integration: emerging trends and remaining agendas' *Journal* of *Refugee Studies* 23: 589–607.
- Suphanchaimat, R., Kantamaturapoj, K., Putthasri, W. and Prakongsai, P. (2015) 'Challenges in the provision of healthcare services for migrants: a systematic review through providers' lens' *BMC Health Services Research* 15(1): 390 (https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/track/ pdf/10.1186/s12913-015-1065-z).
- Tagar, E., Sundaram, M., Condliffe, K. et al. (2014) 'Multi-country analysis of treatment costs for HIV/ AIDS (match): facility-level art unit cost analysis in Ethiopia, Malawi, Rwanda, South Africa and Zambia' *PLOS ONE* 9(11) (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108304).

- Tangcharoensathien, V., Patcharanarumol, W., Mohamed Aljunid, S. et al. (2011) 'Health-financing reforms in southeast Asia: challenges in achieving universal coverage' *Lancet* 377(9768): 863–867 (www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673610618909).
- Tat, S.A., Marrazzo, J.M. and Graham, S.M. (2015) 'Women who have sex with women living in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of sexual health and risk behaviors' *LGBT Health* 2(2): 91–104 (https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2014.0124).
- Thailand National AIDS Committee (2014) *Thailand National Operational Plan Accelerating Ending AIDS 2015–2019*. Bangkok (https://aidsdatahub.org/sites/default/files/publication/Thailand\_ National\_Operational\_Plan\_Accelerating\_Ending\_AIDS\_2015-2019.pdf).
- UN DESA United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2017) 'Population facts'. New York: UN DESA (www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/popfacts/ PopFacts\_2017-5.pdf).
- UN DESA (2018) World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision. New York: UN DESA (https://population.un.org/wup/Publications/Files/WUP2018-KeyFacts.pdf).
- UN DESA (2019) 'The number of international migrants reaches 272 million, continuing an upward trend in all world regions, says UN'. UN DESA News, 17 September (www.un.org/development/ desa/en/news/population/international-migrant-stock-2019.html).
- UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (2017) *Ending AIDS: progress towards the* 90-90-90 targets. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (www.unaids.org/sites/ default/files/media\_asset/Global\_AIDS\_update\_2017\_en.pdf).
- UNDP United Nations Development Programme (2009) *Human Development Report 2009: overcoming barriers – human mobility and development*. New York: UNDP (http://hdr.undp.org/ sites/default/files/reports/269/hdr\_2009\_en\_complete.pdf).
- UNDP (2018) What does it mean to leave no one behind? A UNDP discussion paper and framework for implementation. New York: UNDP.
- UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (2019) *Global trends* 2018. Geneva: UNHCR (www.unhcr.org/5d08d7ee7.pdf).
- UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund (2013) *The State of the World's Children: Children with Disabilities*. New York: UNICEF (www.unicef.org/publications/files/SWCR2013\_ENG\_Lo\_res\_24\_Apr\_2013.pdf).
- UNICEF and WHO (2015) 'Assistive technology for children with disabilities: creating opportunities for education, inclusion and participation'. A discussion paper. Geneva: WHO (www.unicef.org/ disabilities/files/Assistive-Tech-Web.pdf).
- United Nations (2015) 'Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, United Nations General Assembly Resolution 70/1', A/RES/70/1, 21 October (http://undocs.org/A/ RES/70/1).
- Virupaksha, H.G., Kumar, A. and Nirmala, B.P. (2014) 'Migration and mental health: an interface' *Journal of Natural Science, Biology, and Medicine* 5(2): 233–239 (https://doi.org/ 10.4103/0976-9668.136141).
- Vujicic, M., Ohiri, K. and Sparkes, S. (2009) Working in health; financing and managing the public sector health workforce. Washington DC: World Bank (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/248901468331190220/pdf/483400PUB0Work101OFFICIAL0USE0ONLY1.pdf).
- Wagenaar, B.H., Gimbel, S., Hoek, R. et al. (2014) 'Stock-outs of essential health products in Mozambique: longitudinal analyses from 2011 to 2013' *Tropical Medicine & International Health* 19(7): 791–801 (https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12314).
- Wagner, A.K., Graves, A.J., Reiss, S.K. et al. (2010) 'Access to care and medicines, burden of healthcare expenditures, and risk protection: results from the World Health Survey' *Health Policy* 100: 151–158 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2010.08.004).

- Wagner, G.J., Aunon, F.M., Kaplan, R.L. et al. (2013) 'Sexual stigma, psychological well-being and social engagement among men who have sex with men in Beirut, Lebanon' *Culture, Health & Sexuality* 15(5): 570–582 (https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2013.775345).
- Wang, F. (2018) 'The roles of preventive and curative healthcare in economic development' *PLOS ONE* 13(11): e0206808 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206808).
- Wei, C., Guadamuz, T.E., Lim, S.H. et al. (2012) 'Patterns and levels of illicit drug use among men who have sex with men in Asia' *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 120(1–3): 246–249 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2011.07.016).
- WHO World Health Organization (2013) Investing in mental health: evidence for action. Geneva: WHO (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/87232/9789241564618\_eng. pdf;jsessionid=2E4018DE43154784D652783F952305FF?sequence=1).
- WHO (2014) 'What is universal health coverage?' WHO Online Q&A, December (www.who.int/ features/qa/universal\_health\_coverage/en).
- WHO (2017) *Tracking universal health coverage:* 2017 global monitoring report. Geneva: WHO (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/640121513095868125/pdf/122029-WP-REVISED-PUBLIC.pdf).
- WHO (2018) 'Children: reducing mortality' WHO Fact Sheet, 19 September (www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/children-reducing-mortality).
- WHO (2019a) 'Disability and health'. WHO Fact Sheet, 16 January (www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/disability-and-health).
- WHO (2019b) *Primary health care on the road to universal health coverage 2019 monitoring report.* Geneva: WHO (www.who.int/healthinfo/universal\_health\_coverage/report/uhc\_report\_2019. pdf?ua=1).
- WHO and UN-Habitat (2016) Global report on urban health: equitable, healthier cities for sustainable development. Geneva: WHO (https://doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2011.163634).
- Williams, D.R. (1999) 'Race, socioeconomic status, and health: the added effects of racism and discrimination' *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 896: 173–188 (www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/10681897).
- Wilson, D. (2015) 'Collection Review HIV programs for sex workers: lessons and challenges for developing and delivering programs' *PLOS Med* 12(6): e1001808 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001808).
- Wilson, N., Couper, I.D., De Vries, E. et al. (2009) 'A critical review of interventions to redress inquitable distribution of healthcare professionals to rural and remote areas' *Rural Remote Health* 9(2): 1060.
- Winters, M., Rechel, B., de Jong, L. and Pavlova, M. (2018) 'A systematic review on the use of healthcare services by undocumented migrants in Europe' *BMC Health Services Research* 18(30) (https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2838-y).
- Wise, L., Le Nestour, A., Fiala, O. and Smith, B. (2018) *Still left behind? Tracking children's progress against the pledge to leave no one behind*. London: Save the Children (https://resourcecentre. savethechildren.net/node/13589/pdf/still\_left\_behind\_low\_res.pdf).
- World Bank (2008) Project appraisal document on a proposed credit to the People's Republic of Bangladesh for a disability and children-at-risk project. Washington DC: World Bank (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/485601468003560874/ pdf/417950PAD0P1061ly100IDAR20081021911.pdf).
- World Bank (2017) Tracking universal health coverage: 2017 global monitoring report. Washington DC: World Bank (http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/640121513095868125/pdf/122029-WP-REVISED-PUBLIC.pdf).
- World Bank (2018) *Poverty and shared prosperity 2018: piecing together the poverty puzzle.* Washington DC: World Bank (www.worldbank.org/en/publication/poverty-and-shared-prosperity).
- World Bank (2019) World development indicators. Washington DC: World Bank.

- World Bank and WHO (2011) World report on disability. Washington DC: World Bank and WHO (www.who.int/about/licensing/copyright\_form/en/index.html).
- Wu, Q. and Stephens-Davidowitz, S. (2014) 'Internet data and LGBT knowledge gap'. Presentation at World Bank LGBT Conference, 12 March, Google Economics (www.slideshare.net/qingwu54540/ internet-data-and-lgbt-knowledge-gap).
- Zafar, S.N., Fatmi, Z., Iqbal, A. et al. (2013) 'Disparities in access to surgical care within a lower income country: an alarming inequity' *World Journal of Surgery* 37(7): 1470–1477 (https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00268-012-1732-8).
- Zaman, K., Chad, N. and Schneeweis, I. (2016) *India LGBTI: landscape analysis of political, economic and social conditions.* New York: Astraea Lesbian Foundation for Justice.
- Zhang, L., Phanuphak, N., Henderson, K. et al. (2015) *Scaling up HIV treatment for MSM in Bangkok: what does it take? A modelling and costing study*. Working Paper No. 96523 World Bank Group (http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/ download?doi=10.1.1.1020.8349&rep=rep1&type=pdf).
- Zuckerman, R.A., Whittington, W.L., Celum, C.L. et al. (2004) 'Higher concentration of HIV RNA in rectal mucosa secretions than in blood and seminal plasma, among men who have sex with men, independent of antiretroviral therapy' *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 190(1): 156–161 (https://doi.org/10.1086/421246).

# Annex 1 Methodology

This literature review is based on two main sources. First, we undertook a systematic search for academic articles that examine the benefits and/or difficulties in providing healthcare to marginalised groups, then supplemented this initial review with a broader, less structured search of the academic literature. Second, we identified 'grey literature' highlighting the research and advocacy undertaken by international organisations and NGOs (the review of which also flagged additional relevant academic papers). We discuss these two sources of information in turn.

#### Search of academic articles

We undertook a systematic search of the Web of Science and International Bibliography of the Social Sciences (IBSS) databases for articles containing at least one term from each of the following three columns in their abstract or title:

Search terms LNOB	Search terms health	Measurement or outcome
Leave no one behind	Healthcare	Measurement
Leave no one behind	Healthcare	Relative gain
Progressive universalism	Medicine	Economic return
Left behind	Health treatment	Financial return
LNOB	Health policy	Education rates
Pro-poor	Department for health	Productivity
Poorest	Ministry for health	Public return
Universal healthcare	SDG 3	Private return
	SDG three	Rate of return

This returned 241 articles from Web of Science and 81 from IBSS. We then read each of these abstracts and discarded those that were not relevant to this paper. The remaining 58 are discussed in this review. Because these articles tended to focus on different at-risk groups, often in different countries, it was not possible to summarise general costs of reaching or benefits from reaching left behind groups.

We added more academic literature to our search in two ways. First when we came across references to seemingly useful articles that did not get picked up by our search terms, we included these as well. Secondly, in many areas we felt we had not identified enough literature to understand the questions we were trying to answer, either owing to gaps in literature for a particular area or to gaps in our search strategy. To address this issue, we added to literature with specific searches using google scholar, PubMed, IBSS and Web of Science.

#### **Grey literature review**

We uncovered grey literature using google searches of key international organisations and nongovernmental organisations involved in research related to the key words above – notably the World Bank, World Health Organization, and organisations campaigning to raise awareness of issues affecting the specific at-risk groups identified through the academic review.



ODI is an independent, global think tank, working for a sustainable and peaceful world in which every person thrives. We harness the power of evidence and ideas through research and partnership to confront challenges, develop solutions, and create change.

**ODI** 203 Blackfriars Road London SE1 8NJ

+44 (0)20 7922 0300 info@odi.org

odi.org odi.org/facebook odi.org/twitter